THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM CALHOUN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Post Conviction Relief

**MAR 08 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000528

---

David Jamar Benjamin,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina

Respondent.

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

Tricia A. Blanchette  
Post Office Box 2147  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 908-3266  
Attorney for Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

- I. Whether the lower court erred in failing to find that the proper utilization of a lay witness and an expert was absent from trial, which amounted to prejudicial deficiency in the presentation and preparation of the defense.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Calhoun County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted during the February 2013 term of the Calhoun County Grand Jury for one count of murder (2013-GS-09-0051) and two counts of attempted murder (2013-GS-09-0052, 0053).

On March 4, 2013, Petitioner proceeded to trial in front of the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein and a jury. He was represented by Nicholas Thomas, Esquire. On March 7, 2013, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all charges, and the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein sentenced Petitioner to a term of forty (40) years for murder and concurrent terms of thirty (30) years for each count of attempted murder.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. The direct appeal was perfected by Wendy Keefer, Esquire, James Lee Goldsmith, Esquire, and Robert L. Sirianni, Jr., Esquire. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence in an opinion filed on December 16, 2015. *State v. Benjamin*, Op. No. 2015-UP-554 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). On December 21, 2015, a Petition for Rehearing was filed, which was denied on January 20, 2016. The Remittitur was issued on May 27, 2016.

An Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed on April 20, 2016. The State filed a Return and Motion for More Definite Statement on or about January 18, 2017. Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment on June 18, 2018, which alleged that his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as pursuant to Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, were violated prior to and during his trial. He also amended his Application

for Post-Conviction Relief to contain the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to fully and properly advise and advocate for Applicant prior to the rejection of the fifteen year plea offer. Transcript pp. 12-18.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to effectively and fully utilize the services of Kelly Fite or an expert in his or a similar capacity prior to and at trial.
3. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to utilize witnesses and effectively utilize witness (Gidron) called for the defense.
4. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to enter an objection or exception to the jury instruction on malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction. *Gibson v. State*, 416 S.C. 260, 786 S.E.2d 121 (2016).
5. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRPC, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

An evidentiary hearing was convened on July 12, 2018 at the Dorchester County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Christian Saville, Assistant Attorney General. During the course of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified and called Antonio “Tony” Gidron, Robert Tressell, Pete Skidmore, and Nicholas Thomas, Esquire, to the stand. Respondent also called Nicholas Thomas, Esquire, to the stand.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the court requested proposed Orders and allowed time for the parties to obtain the evidentiary hearing transcript. In accordance with the court’s instructions, proposed Orders were submitted by both parties. On February 1, 2019, an Order of Dismissal was issued. Petitioner timely submitted a

Motion, pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCPP, on April 14, 2019. An Order denying Petitioner's motion was issued on February 26, 2019.

On April 1, 2019, Petitioner, through counsel, filed a Notice of Appeal in the South Carolina Supreme Court. On June 29, 2019, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Appendices were filed. On December 3, 2019, Respondent filed the Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

On December 16, 2019, the appeal was transferred from the South Carolina Supreme to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On January 5, 2022, an Order was issued denying and granting certiorari in part, from which this Brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Id.* 466 U.S. at 686; *see Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Bell v. State*, 321 S.C. 238, 467 S.E.2d 926 (1996); *see also Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18.

- I. The lower court erred in failing to find that the proper utilization of a lay witness and an expert was absent from trial, which amounted to prejudicial deficiency in the presentation and preparation of the defense.

- A. Summary of the Evidentiary Hearing Testimony

1. Robert Tressell

At the evidentiary hearing, Robert Tressell was qualified as an expert in the area of homicide investigation and crime scene reconstruction. App. p. 924. He detailed his familiarity over the last forty years with Kelly Fite, the defense expert at trial, and he explained how he became involved in Petitioner's PCR case at the recommendation of Mr. Fite, who is now retired. App. pp. 924-5. He acknowledged that he had reviewed Mr. Fite's testimony, along with all the discovery files. App. pp. 925-6. He detailed going to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, Calhoun County Clerk of Court's Office and Calhoun County Sheriff's Department to review evidence and exhibits. He explained that he wanted to see the diagram utilized at trial, but he found it "not very helpful." App. p. 927, lns. 7-17, p. 949. He further explained there was a "somewhat better" diagram in the discovery, but it was copied in black and white despite indicating it was color coded. App. pp. 927-28. While at the Calhoun County Sheriff's Department a color copy was requested, but it had not been produced prior to the evidentiary hearing. App. p. 928.

He recounted his interaction with Tony Gidron, defense trial witness, that included going to the scene. App. pp. 928-932. He detailed how Mr. Gidron walked him through the scene while conveying his eyewitness account. He deemed Mr. Gidron helpful in showing him where people and vehicles were located. App. pp. 929-30, 971. Mr. Gidron depicted his vantage point to him, and he recalled Mr. Gidron being adamant

that “the gunshots that was fired when Mr. Lawton fell came from the roadway,” not from the direction of Petitioner. App. p. 930. He agreed that he would have been willing to assist the defense prior to trial, and he opined that it would have been vital to meet with Mr. Gidron at the scene prior to trial. App. p. 931.

At to his expert work and findings, he explained that he was unable to produce a diagram or reconstruct the scene since there were no measurements or proper documentation taken at the scene during the original investigation. App. pp. 933, 937, 963, 970-71. He further opined that that investigation fell “well below the standards for a murder investigation.” App. p. 934, lns. 17-20. When asked, he explained how he reached that conclusion:

Well, we look at the whole totality of the incident. The crime scene, of course, is chaotic. It's outside with a multitude of people running, screaming, vehicles trying to leave. First officers who were on the scene failed to secure the crime scene. They failed to keep people from leaving. They failed to keep witnesses on the scene after they had arrived.

App. p. 934, ln. 22 – p. 936, ln. 3. He also explained that it is fundamental to try and locate and/or interview as many witnesses as possible, which was not done here. App. p. 936. He further explained how the numbering of the evidence of the crime scene resulted in duplication and confusion. App. p. 936-937.

Despite the below standard investigation, he was able to determine that there were at least five firearms used at the scene, but he was unable to determine from the investigation which was fired first. App. pp. 933, 937-938. He was also able to ascertain the caliber of the weapons that left behind ballistic evidence and/or were recovered. App. pp. 938-939. After taking measurements at the scene and reviewing the discovery, he attempted to determine which of the weapons could have caused the injury to Mr.

Lawton. App. p. 940. He detailed how he reached his expert opinion that of the weapons known to be at the scene the .40 caliber weapon most likely fired the fatal shot.<sup>1</sup> He explained:

So if I had to pick a weapon fired at a distance of in excess of 60 feet that could go through the hardest bone in the body and then exit the second hardest bone at the back of the head, it would be the .40 caliber. I don't believe the .45 would penetrate all the way through.

App. p. 941, lns. 1-6. He specifically opined that the .45 caliber weapon attributed to Petitioner would not have caused the fatal injury to Mr. Lawton. App. p. 941, p. 953, lns. 9-18. Regarding Mr. Haggood's testimony that Petitioner fired two shots while running, Mr. Tressell opined that no forensic evidence substantiated or corroborated Mr. Haggood's testimony. App. pp. 953-54.

Finally, Mr. Tressell addressed the trial testimony of Kelly Fite. Having already explained that he had worked with Mr. Fite on cases during his career, he acknowledged that Mr. Fite was qualified at the trial in a very similar capacity in which he was qualified at the evidentiary hearing. App. p. 945. Mr. Tressell addressed the testimony offered by Mr. Fite on touch DNA, Mr. Fite's concession that he had not reviewed the DNA report prior to cross-examination, and Mr. Fite's concession that the DNA testing he was proposing should have been done was actually done in the case. App. pp. 544-45, 548-49, 945-46. When asked about Mr. Fite's testimony on cross and redirect that touched on the caliber of bullet that could penetrate the victim's skull and Mr. Fite's concession that a .45 caliber could penetrate a skull, he agreed that Mr. Fite was touching on the matter that he addressed regarding the caliber of the gun likely to cause the fatal injury. App. pp. 947-48. He raised concern with Mr. Fite's testimony about the .45 caliber penetrating the

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Tressell also discussed his findings regarding the 9mm projectiles found at the scene. App. p. 944.

victim's skull since he did not address the proper distance and opined it was "very unlikely" at the distance involved. App. p. 948, lns. 4-21.

## 2. Peter Skidmore

When Peter Skidmore took the stand, he detailed his background and work history as a licensed investigator in North and South Carolina over the last twenty-five years. App. 973. He recounted being contacted by counsel and being retained to work on Petitioner's case. App. p. 974. He detailed his work on the case, which included reviewing the evidence at the South Carolina Court of Appeals, Calhoun County Clerk and Sheriff's Office, working with Robert Tressell, locating and interviewing Tony Gidron and visiting the scene with Petitioner's counsel, Robert Tressell and Tony Gidron. App. pp. 974, 978-9.

Regarding the discovery, he noted that there was not a thorough investigation conducted on the witnesses at the scene. App. p. 975. He explained that there were seven witnesses listed in discovery but no corresponding witness statements. App. p. 975. Beyond Mr. Gidron and Mr. Haggood, he explained that seven years later he was unable to locate any additional eyewitnesses listed in the discovery since the witnesses were now out of state or deceased. App. pp. 975-78. He addressed how Mr. Gidron would have been an asset prior to trial in locating additional witnesses. App. pp. 977-78. Specifically, he testified that Mr. Gidron would have been essential to an investigation and explained: "It would have been a huge help. It would've allowed me to maybe possibly track down some other folks that were there that night. He is entrenched in the community. He's well-respected in the community. And it would've been very helpful." App. p. 977, lns. 2-11. After the State unsuccessfully entered an objection regarding his

testimony that Mr. Gidron's eyewitness account could have opened the door to a third-party guilt investigation, Mr. Skidmore further explained how going to the scene with Mr. Gidron would have aided in the investigation:

Like I said, he – he knew people at the club. He knew how people interacted with one another. That's why he was trying to diffuse the situation, based on what he told me, and felt that something was going to happen. And he probably, seven years ago, had he been talked to and interviewed several times, would've been able to give us more names and locations of where these people were.

App. p. 978, ln. 20 – p. 979, ln. 3.

Mr. Skidmore explained his understanding of Mr. Gidron's negative experience with trial counsel's investigator. App. pp. 988-989. He further explained how he approached Mr. Gidron and advised counsel on how to as well. App. pp. 976, 988-89. He also explained how Mr. Gidron's interviews and time at the scene would have opened up the door to an investigation into a third-party guilt claim involving the shot he saw coming from the road. App. pp. 977-79, 982-83.

Mr. Skidmore agreed with Mr. Tressell that the diagram used at trial was inaccurate, and he explained how he could have been utilized to properly depict the scene as it appeared at the time of trial. App. pp. 976, 981, 987. Mr. Skidmore also recalled attending the meeting at the Sheriff's Office where a color diagram was requested and not provided with the explanation that the retired lead investigator had files in his garage, which greatly concerned him. App. p. 980.

### 3. Tony Gidron

When Tony Gidron took the stand, he explained that he was present on the night in question and testified at trial. He agreed with his trial testimony, specifically that he was very good friends with the victim's brother and friends with Petitioner. App. p. 882.

He explained that he was closer to the victim's brother than Petitioner. App. p. 913.

Turning to the night in question, he described the scene as chaotic, and reiterated his trial testimony that the investigation was poorly handled.

Regarding his interaction with counsel or an investigator prior to trial, he recalled a guy popping up on his doorstep before trial and then just having to take the stand. App. p. 881. He also recalled going to the scene with a guy he did not know before trial. App. pp. 881-83. He acknowledged that he went to the scene with counsel, Pete Skidmore and Robert Tressell prior to the evidentiary hearing and walked them through the scene. App. pp. 886, 901. When shown the diagram utilized at trial, he indicated that he was not given any visual aids at trial, and he attempted to explain the scene and the inaccuracies in the trial diagram. App. pp. 887-890. When trying to utilize the diagram from trial, he concluded: "I just can't get it right." App. p. 899. He explained that he was nervous at trial and clarified what he meant when he testified that victim appeared on a hook, and he added that he saw victim fall back with a gun in his hand. App. pp. 891-93.

Regarding his trial testimony, he affirmed it in relevant part. App. pp. 882-883. He reiterated that he did not see Petitioner with a gun, and he saw Petitioner keeping to himself. App. pp. 882-83. When asked about each section of his trial testimony, he further explained his eyewitness account from start to finish. App. pp. 882-897. He explained based upon his location and proximity to the victim he was scared when he got "hit" since he was "right in the line of that." App. p. 893, ln. 22 – p. 894, ln. 1.

Thereafter, he provided the following testimony with reference to the diagram:

Question: Based upon your present-sense impression that night, did it appear to you that the shots were coming from the club area where Mr. Benjamin's car were – was at or from the road?

Answer: Talking about when he got hit?

Question: Yes, when he got hit.

Answer: It was coming from the road. Because the way he – he kicked back, he never even had a chance to even turn toward – that car was, like, to his far – to our far right. I –

Question: Okay.

Answer: --- could see him. But he – he never had a chance to even look at them, because he was too busy focusing, I guess, trying to get the gun right.

Question: And what vehicle did you see on the road where you say gunfire coming from?

Answer: Right behind that tree. It was a person behind that tree. And it was blue – a blue Malibu at the top of the road. And a little farther up on the side, it was a blue Honda. But I knew it was a – a blue – even though it was dark, I knew that was a blue Malibu. It wasn't – it was only, like, one or tow of those cars down there.

Question: Okay. And based upon your perception that night, it appeared to you that that's where the gunfire was coming when the victim was struck?

Answer: Yes, ma'am. The way it was, like, leaning – after it came out that car, but it was a person standing right there in, like, the car here – the person was here in the – right behind the tree. But that spark came from right there.

App. p. 894, ln. 13- p. 895, ln. 17.

On cross-examination, he agreed that he testified that the victim had a gun in his waistband, but he explained that he did not testify about the gun in victim's hand since he was not directly asked, was nervous, and he had not gone through his eyewitness account with counsel before trial. App. pp. 904-905. When asked on cross-examination about whether Petitioner shot victim, he responded: "I know he didn't." App. p. 910, ln. 24 – p. 911, ln. 8. He further testified that from his vantage point no one at the vehicle with

Petitioner could have shot victim. App. p. 911, lns. 4-8. He explained that the gunfire that killed victim came from a person standing behind a tree near the road. App. pp. 894-895.

4. Nicholas Thomas, Esquire

When called to the stand at the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Thomas was asked about his utilization of Kelly Fite as an expert. He explained that he received a referral from several lawyers and reached out to Mr. Fite. App. pp. 1003-4. He copied and mailed a hard copy of the discovery to Mr. Fite, which he admitted contradicted Mr. Fite's trial testimony. App. pp. 1004-5. He exchanged a couple of emails with Mr. Fite about the theory he expected the State to pursue, but they did not discuss anything in great detail. App. pp. 1004-5.

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