**RECEIVED**

**Jul 18 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

On Certiorari to Calhoun County  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000528

---

DAVID J. BENJAMIN,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SAMANTHA J. WEIDAUER  
S.C. Bar No. 104833  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **STATEMENTS OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI**

### **Petitioner's Statement of Issues of Certiorari**

Whether the lower court erred in failing to find that the proper utilization of a lay witness and an expert was absent from trial, which amounted to prejudicial deficiency in the presentation and preparation of the defense.

### **Respondent's Counterstatement of Issues of Certiorari**

The post-conviction relief court correctly found Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to effectively utilize lay witness, Antonio Gidron, and expert witness, Kelly Fite, at trial where Petitioner cannot establish he suffered any prejudice and where trial counsel was not deficient in the preparation and presentation of either witness because he made reasonable and adequate efforts to prepare and discuss the case with both witnesses prior to trial and because trial counsel made adequate efforts to utilize both witnesses' testimony at trial.

- a. Trial counsel properly prepared and utilized Kelly Fite as an expert witness at trial.
- b. Trial counsel properly prepared and utilized witness Antonio Gidron at trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner David Jamar Benjamin is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections. During its February 2013 term, the Calhoun County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2013-GS-09-00051) and two counts of attempted murder (2013-GS-09-00052 & 2013-GS-09-00053). Petitioner was represented by Nicholas Gray Thomas (Counsel). Donald N. Sorenson and Theodore N. Lupton of the First Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case. On March 4-7, 2013, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein. At the conclusion of trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. Judge Goodstein sentenced Petitioner to concurrent sentences of forty years for murder and thirty years for each of the attempted murder convictions. On March 15, 2013, Petitioner filed a motion for a new trial and a motion to reconsider the sentence. By separate Orders, both filed July 9, 2013, Judge Goodstein denied Petitioner's motion for a new trial and motion to reconsider the sentence.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal and was represented by Wendy Keefer (Appellate Counsel). During the appeal process, Petitioner was also represented by James Lee Goldsmith, Jr., Esquire, and Robert L. Sirianni, Jr., Esquire. Applicant perfected his appeal alleging:

- 1) The trial court erred in not granting defendant's motion for directed verdict where the state failed to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove defendant Benjamin's guilt and
- 2) The trial court abused its discretion in denying defendant's motion for new trial where there was insufficient evidence to support the jury's finding and where, as a matter of law, the state failed to produce substantial circumstantial evidence to support its accomplice liability theory to convict defendant.

On December 16, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions, finding the court properly submitted the case to the jury because the State met its burden of producing any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that reasonably tended to prove Benjamin was guilty of the murder and attempted murder charges and that the court did not

abuse its discretion in denying Benjamin's motion for a new trial because competent evidence supported the jury's verdict on the murder and attempted murder charges. State v. Benjamin, 2015-UP-554 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed December 16, 2015). Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on December 21, 2015. On January 20, 2016, the Court denied the petition. The remittitur was issued on May 27, 2016.

On April 20, 2016, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). Respondent made its return on January 18, 2017. On July 12, 2018, the PCR court convened an evidentiary hearing at the Dorchester County Courthouse before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. Assistant Attorney General Christian Saville appeared on behalf of the State. Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire, represented Petitioner. By order dated February 1, 2019, Judge Stilwell denied Petitioner relief and dismissed the PCR application with prejudice. Petitioner filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC, on April 14, 2019. On February 26, 2019, Judge Stilwell issued an order denying Petitioner's motion.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal from the PCR court's dismissal on April 1, 2019. On June 29, 2019, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari requesting review of two issues including the issue addressed in this Brief:

- 1) The lower court erred in failing to find that the proper utilization of a lay witness and an expert was absent from trial, which amounted to prejudicial deficiency in the presentation and preparation of the defense; and
- 2) The lower court erred in failing to find ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to enter an objection or exception to the jury instruction on malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction.

On December 3, 2019, Respondent filed the Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari. On January 5, 2022, this Court issued an Order denying certiorari on the second issue above and granted review of the first issue, addressed within. Petitioner filed his Brief of Petitioner on March 8, 2022. This Brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### *Summary of Evidence Presented at Trial*

In the early morning of September 18, 2011, Petitioner and co-defendants Joshua Haggood and Kevin Frazier were involved in an exchange of gunfire with the murder victim, Dominique Lawton, at a Calhoun County nightclub. The men were mutual combatants and the shooting stemmed from Dominique bumping into Petitioner on the dance floor earlier that morning. Dominique was killed by a gunshot wound to the head and two innocent bystanders, James Hampton and Shawn DeFreitas, were shot in the elbow and in the leg, respectively.

Calhoun County Sheriff's Deputy Terry Snead testified that he received a dispatch regarding a shooting shortly before 4:00 a.m. on September 18, 2011. He then responded to an Ellore, South Carolina, nightclub known as the Pine Terrace Club or Piggy Park. Sgts. Phil Rice and Earl Kinley also responded, but Sgt. Rice was delayed in going to the scene because he responded to a tip that one of the shooting victims had unsuccessfully tried to drive to the hospital and was at a convenience store in Cameron, South Carolina. (App'x pp. 108-12; 123).

When Deputy Snead arrived at Piggy Park roughly thirty minutes later, the scene was "kind of chaotic," and some people were leaving as he arrived. Deputy Snead saw one person, Dominique Lawton, lying on the ground between some trees and a parked Cadillac, with a group of people huddled around him. Another wounded person was seated in a small gray car. This person had an arm or shoulder wound. EMS was already on standby and was called in for the victims. (App'x pp 112-21; 123; 125; State's Exhibit 3).

Twenty-five year old Andrew Haynes, who goes by the nickname "Bubba," testified that he is a DJ working under the name "DJ Stroke." He had previously worked at the Piggy Park approximately thirty times without a homicide, and he was working there on September 17-18,

2011. Mr. Haynes arrived between 11:00 and 1:30 p.m. Mike Bullock, “DJ Mike,” also worked Piggy Park that night and was there before Mr. Haynes. Bullock had backed his van up to a door on the right-hand side of the nightclub, when viewed from the road (State’s Exhibits 4-5), and it remained there the entire night. (App’x pp. 126-29; 148-49).

Dominique and Petitioner, as well as Petitioner’s co-defendants, were on the dance floor. “[A]bout thirty minutes” after Mr. Haynes arrived, he witnessed an altercation between Petitioner when the victim bumped into Petitioner on the dance floor. There were “some words and a little shoving” but no punches were thrown. As soon as that occurred, Mr. Haynes stepped in between them and stopped it. The club was serving free liquor, everyone appeared to be drinking and the victim was intoxicated before this incident occurred. (App’x pp. 129-33).

After Mr. Haynes talked to the men, they both seemed to calm down. However, Petitioner, Haggood and Frazier went outside sometime later.<sup>1</sup> Because Mr. Haynes is respected at the club, he followed them outside shortly afterwards, in an effort to further calm them down. By the time he got outside, it looked like the three men were returning to the club from their car. Mr. Haynes spoke with Petitioner. “Well, Dominique's nickname is Killa, so [I told him] ‘don't follow around with Killa because he's young, drunk, you know how they get.’”<sup>2</sup> Petitioner’s response was, “‘I'm a killer,’ and then they walked in and that was all.” (App’x pp. 133-35; 149; 151-52).

Because Mr. Haynes knew Dominique and because violence is bad for a DJ’s business, he also spoke with Dominique and told him “go ahead and calm down because it's not called for.” (He explained that Dominique was given the nickname of Killa in childhood). Mr. Haynes did not notice any other altercations inside the club that morning, but the decision was made to close the

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Haynes knew Frazier because they played basketball against each other in high school.

<sup>2</sup> By this he meant that where there is a crowd of people who are drinking and they bump into one another, shoving can occur. (App’x p. 149).

club, since the crowd was “iffy.” After the crowd had started leaving, someone ran back inside and told Mr. Haynes there was another confrontation outside of the club. By the time he got outside, he did not see the murder victim, and he thought that Dominique and Dominique’s friends had walked towards the road. However, he saw Kevin Frazier holding a silver revolver and aiming it in the air. (App’x pp. 135-38; 140; 152; 155).

Mr. Haynes knew Frazier. So, in another effort to avoid trouble, he went up to Frazier and talked to Frazier. Frazier said, “I just want to get out the country. I want to get home.” Haynes told Frazier that he was respected and he promised to escort him to the car. He also got between the two sides. However, both parties continued their “chatter” and Frazier continued to hold his gun in the air. (App’x pp. 138-41).

According to Mr. Haynes, the black car that the defendants had arrived in was parked on the side of the building and backed in, one car away from the white van. A car owned by Shawn DeFreitas was parked in front of and facing it. By the time that Mr. Haynes and Frazier reached the trunk of the defendants’ car, Frazier began firing his revolver into the air. At this point, Petitioner was by the driver’s door, Haggood was standing on the passenger side of the car, and roughly twenty-five or thirty men and women were in the area. Mr. Haynes ran back into the club and heard a lot of gunshots. (App’x pp. 138-45; 153).

After the shooting ended, Mr. Haynes went back out and saw that his friend, James “Pee Wee” Hampton, had been shot. Mr. Haynes started to drive Hampton to the hospital but the deputies arrived and would not let him leave because his car was part of the crime scene. (App’x pp. 145-46). Mr. Haynes had not seen anyone with a gun when Frazier fired the shots into the air and he did not see Petitioner with a gun. (App’x p. 147; 153).

Natasha “Tasha” Sumpter testified that she is twenty-four years old. She and her friend, Tanesha, were at Nevadria “Momma” Miller’s birthday party at Piggy Park, on September 17-18, 2011. She had witnessed a “little small argument inside the club.” When she and her friend were leaving “there was a lot of argument and then I saw one of the guys with the gun.” This man was in front of the women. The description that she gave was of a brown-skinned man, who was slightly taller than her and had a “little haircut.” She is 5’4” tall and, as will soon be clear, this description was consistent with Haggood. (App’x p. 226-31).

Dominique Lawton was one of the people arguing and the argument was close to the club’s front door. Natasha immediately grabbed Tanesha and tried to convince her friend to leave, but Tanesha wanted to talk. Tanesha had parked next to a ditch that ran alongside the roadway with the passenger side away from the road. The shooting began by the time they reached their vehicle. Natasha did not see the shooting, and their vehicle did not get hit by gunfire. (App’x pp. 230-34).

After the shooting stopped, Natasha got out of the car and heard a girl screaming that ““they shot him. They killed him.”” She subsequently saw Dominique lying on the ground close to the road and called his sister. Other than the man whom she described, she had not seen anyone else with a gun. (App’x pp. 234-37).

James “Pee Wee” Hampton testified that he is from Ellore, South Carolina. He and Dominique Lawton were good friends. Mr. Hampton did not know either Petitioner or Haggood, prior to the night of the shooting, but he played basketball against Frazier in high school.<sup>3</sup> Mr. Hampton and his friend, Charles Goodwin, arrived at Piggy Park between 12:30 and 1:00 on September 18<sup>th</sup>. They parked along the side of the road. (App’x pp. 202-05; 221).

---

<sup>3</sup> Frazier went to Calhoun County High School. (App’x p. 204).

At some point while Mr. Hampton was in the club, he became aware that Dominique Lawton had been involved in an altercation in the club and the other person involved in the incident was pointed out to him. He then spoke to the victim, telling Dominique “to chill out and calm down.” Dominique was calm after this conversation. However, “[a]bout an hour or two” later, there was a commotion outside the club and Mr. Hampton went outside and “tried to keep it calm.” (App’x pp. 205-06).

As soon as Mr. Hampton got outside, he saw Frazier standing on his right. Frazier had a revolver in his hand and was waiving it in the air. Frazier said “[A]ll we want to do is go home.” Petitioner and Haggood<sup>4</sup> had guns as well and were also standing by the door. Dominique and some of his friends were in this same area and “[t]here was a lot of chatter.” Hampton walked over to where the defendants were parked, backed in at the corner of the building and next to the DJ’s van. (App’x pp. 206-11; State’s Exhibit 3).

Shawn Cooper’s vehicle was parked in front of the defendants’ car. Although Dominique was walking to his car, he and his friends were still exchanging words with Petitioner and his co-defendants. Petitioner, Haggood, and Frazier all had their guns out, and by the time that Mr. Hampton reached their vehicle, Frazier fired one or two shots into the air. As Hampton started to walk away from their vehicle and toward the road, several more shots were fired from behind him and in the area of the defendants’ vehicle. When Hampton felt a bullet go past his head, he immediately ducked behind the van. Hampton later told police that he saw Haggood shooting but he did not see Petitioner shooting and, at trial, he testified that he had inferred that Haggood was shooting. (App’x pp. 211-14; 223-24).

---

<sup>4</sup> Mr. Hampton described Haggood as being of “[a]bout medium height.” (App’x p. 208).

After these shots, he heard someone say, “‘Killa, get up.’”<sup>5</sup> Hampton ran over to where his friend was lying on the ground, by a tree, with a gunshot wound to the head. (State’s Exhibit 2). In a reaction to seeing his friend in this condition, Mr. Hampton ran up toward the club, pulled a green pole “out of the ground and threw it at the [defendants’] car.” Mr. Hampton also saw Shawn Cooper on the ground behind his car, which was still facing the defendants’ car. (App’x pp. 214-17).<sup>6</sup>

Next, Mr. Hampton walked started to walk back up behind the DJ’s van, on the far side of the defendants’ vehicle. However, several more shots were fired and a bullet struck him in the left elbow. He alerted others present that he had been hit and he was placed in Mr. Haynes’ car. (State’s Exhibit 3). Eventually, an ambulance transported him to the hospital. (App’x pp. 218-20).

Dr. Jerrold Buckaloo, an orthopedic at Orangeburg Regional Medical Center, and personnel at that hospital treated Hampton’s gunshot wound to his left elbow, on the morning of September 18<sup>th</sup>. However, the bullet (State’s Exhibit 33) was not removed until a later surgery on February 8, 2012. The bullet was turned over to the Calhoun County Sheriff’s Office. (App’x pp. 220-21; 238-43; 245-49; 430). Dr. Buckaloo testified that a gunshot wound, generally, is the type of injury that would be likely to cause a substantial risk of death, serious permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment in the function of a bodily part or organ. (App’x p. 249).

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